
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF ARKANSAS 

Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
and the State of Arkansas ex rel. Leslie 
Rutledge, Attorney General, 

Plaintiffs, 

v. 

Case Number: 

COMPLAINT 

AUG 1 4 2019 

f~ES W.-w:MACK, CLERK 
y DEPCLERK 

4; I q- C. V - 5t, 5 - B s M 

Andrew Gamber, Voyager Financial 
Group, LLC, BAIC, Inc., and SoBell 
Corp., 

This case assigned to District Judge Af ,Ue.r 
and to Magistrate Judge ..... 8.._11._.}--------Defendants. 

The Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection (Bureau) and the State of Arkansas ex rel. 

Leslie Rutledge, Attorney General (Arkansas), bring this action against Andrew Gamber; 

Voyager Financial Group, LLC; BAIC, Inc.; and SoBell Corp. ( collectively, Defendants) under 

the Consumer Financial Protection Act of2010 (CFPA), 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), 5564, 

5565. Arkansas also brings this action under the Arkansas Deceptive Trade Practices Act 

(ADTPA), Ark. Code Ann.§ 4-88-101, et seq. and the Arkansas Constitution, as amended by 

Amendment 89, § 3. Plaintiffs allege as follows. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

1. This Court has subject-matter jurisdiction over this action because it is brought 

under "Federal consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5565(a)(l), presents a federal question, 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, and is brought by an agency of the United States, 28 U.S.C. § 1345. 

2. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Arkansas's state-law claims 

because they are so related to the federal claims that they form part of the same case or 

controversy. 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 
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3. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because Defendants are 

located, reside, and do business in this district. 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f). 

4. Venue is proper because Defendants are located, reside, and do business in this 

district, 12 U.S.C. § 5564(f), because Defendants reside in this district and all Defendants are 

residents of the State of Arkansas, 28 U.S.C. § 139l(b)(l), and because a substantial part of the 

events or omissions giving rise to the claims occurred in this district, 28 U.S.C. § 139l(b)(2). 

Parties 

5. The Bureau is an independent agency of the United States created by the CFPA. 

12 U.S.C. § 549l(a). The Bureau has independent litigating authority and is authorized to initiate 

civil actions in federal district court to secure appropriate relief for violations of"Federal 

consumer financial law," 12 U.S.C. § 5564(a)-(b), including the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14). 

6. Leslie Rutledge is the Attorney General for the State of Arkansas and is the chief 

legal officer of the State. She is statutorily mandated to maintain and defend the interests of the 

State, the legitimate business community, and Arkansas consumers in federal court. Ark. Code 

Ann.§§ 4-88-105, 25-16-701 et seq. Under Ark. Code Ann.§ 4-88-104 and 4-88-113, the State 

may seek civil enforcement of the ADTP A. 

7. Defendant Voyager Financial Group, LLC (VFG) was an Arkansas corporation 

headquartered in Little Rock, Arkansas. VFG brokered extensions of credit to consumers and is 

therefore a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)-(7), (15)(A)(i). 

8. Defendant BAIC, Inc. (BAIC) was a Texas corporation headquartered in Little 

Rock, Arkansas. BAIC brokered extensions of credit to consumers and is therefore a "covered 

person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)-(7), (15)(A)(i). 
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9. Defendant SoBell Corp (SoBell) was a Mississippi corporation headquartered in 

Little Rock, Arkansas. SoBell brokered extensions of credit to consumers and is therefore a 

"covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(5)-(7), (15)(A)(i). 

10. Defendant Andrew Gamber was a co-founder and owner ofVFG. Gamber was 

the sole founder and owner of BAIC and SoBell. He had managerial responsibility for VFG, 

BAIC, and SoBell, and he materially participated in the conduct of their affairs. Gamber is 

therefore a "related person" under the CFPA, 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(C)(i)-(ii), and is thus deemed 

a "covered person" under the CFPA. 12 U.S.C. § 5481(25)(B). Further, under Ark. Code Ann.§ 

4-88-l 13(d)(l), Gamber is liable for violations of the ADTPA as a "partner, officer, or director" 

and a "person who directly or indirectly control[led]" VFG, BAIC, and SoBell. 

Factual Background 

11. Gamber, through his companies VFG, BAIC, and SoBell, brokered contracts 

offering high-interest credit to consumers. The credit offers were marketed as purchases of 

consumers' future pension or disability payments. 

12. Defendants set up contracts between consumers and investors where consumers 

receive a lump-sum payment, ranging from a few thousand to tens of thousands of dollars, and 

were thereafter obligated to repay a much larger amount by assigning to investors part of 

consumers' monthly pension or disability payments. The consumers' obligations typically last 

five to ten years. 

13. The majority of the high-interest credit offers Defendants brokered were for 

veterans who have Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) disability pensions or pensions 

administered by the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (DF AS). The VA establishes a 

veteran's level of disability compensation and administers disability pensions. DF AS is a federal 
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agency within the Department of Defense; it includes an office that issues monthly pension 

payments to military retirees. 

14. From at least 2011 through 2016, Defendants' contracts required veterans to go 

into their VA or DF AS online portal and change their entire pension direct-deposits or their 

monthly allotments to be routed directly into a bank account controlled by Defendants or 

Defendants' agents. If veterans contracted to sell only part of their pensions through Defendants, 

Defendants would receive the veterans' entire pension direct-deposits or monthly allotments and 

then remit portions of them to the veterans' bank accounts. 

15. Federal law prohibits agreements under which another person acquires the right to 

receive a veteran's pension payments. 38 U.S.C. § 530l(a)(3)(C). 

16. South Carolina law, the law governing these contracts according to their choice-

of-law provisions, prohibits an assignment of earnings for payment or as security for payment of 

a debt arising out of a consumer loan and deems a sale of unpaid earnings made in consideration 

of the payment of money to the seller of the earnings to be a loan secured by an assignment of 

earnings. S.C. Code§ 37-3-403 (2012). "Earnings" includes periodic payments under a pension, 

retirement, or disability program. S.C. Code§ 37-1-301(15). Thus, these contracts are prohibited 

under their governing state law. 

17. Consumers could repay the contracts from sources other than the contracted-for 

income stream. In fact, consumers were required to purchase life-insurance policies so that, 

should a consumer die and the income stream stop, the outstanding amount on the contract would 

still be paid. 

18. Defendants represented to consumers that the products Defendants brokered were 

sales of payments and not high-interest credit offers. For example, the first page of the "New 
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Seller Information Packet," sent to consumers by Defendants, stated, "It is important to note that 

this is not a loan[.]" The first paragraph of a form email sent with the packet stated, "Please keep 

in mind that this is not a loan, you are selling a product for a set price." 

19. Defendants did not disclose to consumers the interest rates of the products 

Defendants brokered. 

20. In Defendants' communications with consumers who had ostensibly been 

matched with a buyer, Defendants routinely told consumers that consumers would receive their 

funds by a specific date or within a specified period. On multiple occasions, however, 

Defendants did not deliver the funds to the consumer by the promised date. Many consumers 

experienced funding delays, some as long as several months. 

21. Many consumers realized the illegal nature of the transactions, and some 

complained directly to Defendants that the transactions are illegal. In response, Defendants 

repeatedly told consumers that the transactions were legal. 

Count I 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFP A 

22. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 

23. An act or practice is deceptive if it involves a material misrepresentation or 

omission that is likely to mislead consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

24. Information that is material to consumers is information that is likely to affect a 

consumer's choice of, or conduct regarding, a product or service. 

25. The contracts brokered by Defendants were void from inception because federal 

law prohibits agreements under which another person acquires the right to receive a veteran's 

pension payments, 38 U.S.C. § 5301(a)(3)(C), and because South Carolina law, which governs 
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the contracts, prohibits sales of unpaid earnings and prohibits assignments of pensions as security 

on payment of a debt, S.C. Code§ 37-3-403. 

26. Defendants repeatedly failed to disclose to consumers that the contracts 

Defendants brokered were illegal because (1) assignments of veterans' pensions are prohibited 

by federal law and (2) sales of unpaid earnings and assignments of pensions as security on 

payment of a debt are prohibited under South Carolina law. Defendants repeatedly 

misrepresented the contracts as valid and enforceable. 

27. Defendants' failures to disclose the illegality of the contracts and their 

misrepresentations of the contracts as valid and enforceable were likely to mislead consumers 

acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

28. Defendants' omissions and misrepresentations were material because they were 

likely to influence the decisions of consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

29. Therefore, Defendants engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531(a), 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count II 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFP A 

30. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 

31. Defendants brokered contracts that provide for consumers to receive a lump-sum 

payment and thereafter repay a much larger total amount over time using their monthly pension 

or disability payments. These products are high-interest credit offers. 

32. Defendants represented to consumers that Defendants' products were sales and 

not high-interest credit offers. 
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33. Consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances were likely to be misled by 

Defendants' misrepresentations. 

34. Defendants' misrepresentations regarding the nature of the products Defendants 

brokered were material to consumers because the misrepresentations rendered a reasonable 

consumer unable to compare the cost of Defendants' products with other potential sources of 

credit and were likely to influence the decisions of consumers acting reasonably under the 

circumstances. 

35. Therefore, Defendants engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 553 l(a), 5536(a)(l)(B). 

Count III 

Deceptive Acts or Practices in Violation of the CFP A 

36. The allegations in paragraphs 1 to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 

37. Defendants misrepresented to consumers that consumers would receive funds 

from Defendants within a specified period when, in fact, many consumers did not receive funds 

by the specified date. 

38. Defendants' misrepresentation were likely to mislead consumers acting 

reasonably under the circumstances. 

39. Misrepresentations about the date by which consumers would receive lump-sum 

payments under Defendants' contracts were material because they were likely to influence the 

decisions of consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances. 

40. Therefore, Defendants engaged in deceptive acts and practices in violation of the 

CFPA. 12 U.S.C. §§ 553l(a), 5536(a)(l)(B). 
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Count IV 

Unfair Acts or Practices in Violation to the CFP A 

41. The allegations in paragraphs I to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 

42. An act or practice is unfair if it causes or is likely to cause consumers substantial 

injury that is not reasonably avoidable and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits to 

consumers or to competition. 

43. Defendants failed to inform consumers of their products' interest rates. 

44. Defendants caused or likely caused substantial injury to consumers because 

Defendants prevented consumers from comparing alternative products. And by failing to inform 

consumers about the products' interest rates, Defendants deprived consumers of information 

consumers would need to determine whether the product is usurious and therefore potentially 

unlawful under their state's law. 

45. Consumers could not reasonably have avoided injury in this situation; consumers 

could not reasonably be expected to make the interest-rate calculation themselves, particularly 

after Defendants misrepresented that the product was not a high-interest credit offer. 

46. This injury was not outweighed by countervailing benefits to consumers or 

competition. 

47. Therefore, Defendants engaged in unfair acts and practices in violation of the 

CFPA 12. U.S.C. §§ 553l(c), 5536(a)(l)(B). 

CountV 

Deceptive, Unconscionable, and False Practices in Violation to the ADTPA 

48. The allegations in paragraphs I to 21 are incorporated here by reference. 
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49. Defendants' business practices constitute the sale of"goods" or "services" within 

the meaning of Ark. Code Ann.§ 4-88-102(3) & (6). These same practices constitute business, 

commerce, or trade within the meaning of Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-107. 

50. The deceptive and unconscionable trade practices enumerated are in addition to 

and do not limit the types of unfair trade practices actionable at common la~ or under other 

statutes of the State of Arkansas, including the Arkansas Constitution. Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-

107(b ). 

51. Defendants' conduct constitutes deceptive, false, and unconscionable trade 

practices prohibited by the ADTP A, including but likely not limited to Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-

107( a)( 1) and 4-88-107(a)(10). More specifically, Defendants violated the ADTPA by: 

a. Knowingly making a false representations as to the characteristics, uses, 

benefits, sources, and approval of these lump-sum payments, rather than correctly 

characterizing the transactions as loans that were void from inception because federal law 

prohibits agreements under which another person acquires the right to receive a veteran's 

pension payments, under 38 U.S.C. § 5301(a)(3)(C). 

b. Advertising "lump-sum payments" with the intent not to sell them as 

advertised to both pension sellers and buyers was deceptive because Defendants 

affirmatively state that the transactions are not loans or are structured in such a manner 

that the practice of both selling and buying a veteran's pension is legal. 

c. Engaging in other unconscionable, false, or deceptive action or practice in 

business, by charging and collecting usurious interest rates (in excess of 17% ) as a 

matter of law and that violates the Arkansas Constitution. See Ark. v. R & A. Inv. Co., 

Inc., 336 Ark. 289, 782 S.W.2d 299 (1991); Ark. Bd. of Collection Agencies & Old 
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Republic Sur. Co. v. McGhee, 372 Ark. 136,271 S.W.3d 512 (2008); Staton v. Ark. Bd 

of Collection Agencies & Am. Mfrs. Mut. Ins. Co., 3 72 Ark. 387, 277 S. W .3d 190 (2008); 

McGhee v. Ark. Bd. of Collection Agencies, 375 Ark. 52,289 S.W.3d 18 (2008). The 

usurious interest rates are believed to have ranged from 25% to over 40%, not including 

fees and the required life-insurance premiums costs that may be considered as part of the 

overall cost of credit. 

d. Requiring consumers to purchase life-insurance policies that paid the 

purchaser of the loan upon the consumers' death is unfair and unconscionable in that the 

cost of the life-insurance policy is not disclosed as part of the cost of the loan. 

52. Defendants' conduct in connection with the sale or advertisement of "lump-sum 

payment" or "income stream purchases" was in violation of Ark. Code Ann. § 4-88-108 through 

the concealment, suppression, or omission of material facts: 

a. That the assignment of the pension was void at its inception and 

Defendants' act, use, or employment of a carefully crafted and constructed scheme to cast 

the loans as "lump-sum payments" was employed to obtain commissions and fees 

through deceit, defraud, or false pretenses. 

b. That the assignment of certain pensions was void at its inception, such that 

Defendants' advertisements, statements and business model was deliberately designed to 

skirt both the definition of a loan and the definition of a security with the intent that both 

buyers and sellers rely upon the concealment, suppression, or omission. 

c. That Defendants Gamber and VFG were subject to a cease-and-desist 

consent order for the sale of unregistered securities. See In re VFG, LLCJ/kla Voyager 

Fin. Grp., LLC., Arkansas Security Department Order No. S-12-00 l 5-l 4-OR06. 
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d. And that both the life-insurance coverage on the seller and limits to other 

''wrap insurance" purportedly provided by Lloyds of London to protect the buyers did not 

disclose that the life insurance may lapse or that the seller could reduce or direct the 

income stream at any time. 

53. Defendants' conduct is ongoing in that many veterans and other consumers who 

sold their pensions are still paying on these loans and buyers who purchased the "income 

streams" are still receiving payments. 

54. Further, Defendants' affirmative and fraudulent scheme sought to characterize the 

transactions as the sale of a pension rather than a usurious loan in order to prevent consumers 

from discovering the fraud and usurious interest. 

55. Finally, some of these transactions were committed against "elder or disabled 

persons" that subject Defendants to additional civil penalties not to exceed $10,000 for each 

violation, Ark. Code Ann.§ 4-88-201 et seq., because: 

a. Defendants' conduct was in disregard of the rights of the elder or disabled 

person to his or her pension. 

b. Defendants knew or reasonably should have known that their conduct was 

directed toward these elder or disabled persons because the customers were receiving 

pensions and disability payments. 

c. The elder or disabled person was more vulnerable to Defendants' conduct 

because of age, poor health, infirmity, impaired understanding, restricted mobility, or 

disability than other persons and the elder or disabled person actually suffered substantial 

physical, emotion, or economic damage resulting from Defendants' conduct. 

d. And Defendants' conduct caused an elder or disabled person to suffer: 
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1. mental or emotional anguish; 

11. loss of or encumbrance upon a primary residence of the elder or 

disabled person; 

iii. loss or encumbrance upon the elder or disabled person's principal 

_employment or principal source of income; 

1v. loss of funds received under a pension or retirement plan or a 

government benefits program; 

v. loss of property set aside for retirement or for personal or family 

care and maintenance; 

vi. loss of assets essential to the health and welfare of the older or 

disabled person; or 

v11. any other similar facts the Court deems appropriate. 

Prayer for Relief 

Wherefore, the Bureau and Arkansas request that the Court: 

1. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

CFPA, 12 U.S.C. §§ 5531, 5536(a), or any provision of"Federal consumer financial 

law," as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 5481(14); 

2. permanently enjoin Defendants from committing future violations of the 

ADTP A and the Arkansas Constitution, Amend. 89; 

3. grant additional injunctive relief as the Court may deem just and proper; 

4. order the suspension or forfeiture of franchises, corporate charters, or 

other licenses or permits or authorization to do business in Arkansas. Ark. Code Ann. § 

4-88- l 13(b ); 
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5. award restitution, damages, or other monetary relief against Defendants; 

6. order Defendants to pay redress to harmed consumers; 

7. order Defendants to disgorge all ill-gotten gains; 

8. impose on Defendants civil money penalties; 

9. order Defendants to pay the Bureau's and Arkansas's costs incurred in 

connection with prosecuting this action; and 

10. award additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Cara Petersen 
Acting Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich 
Acting Principal Deputy Enforcement Director 
Michael G. Salemi 
Acting Deputy Enforcement Director 
Kara K. Miller 
Assistant Litigation Deputy 

Isl Benjamin Konop 
Benjamin Konop, Ohio Bar No. 0073458 
Senior Litigation Counsel 
Lane Powell, Mich. Bar No. P79432 
Enforcement Attorney 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-7265 
Facsimile: (202) 435-7329 
benjamin.konop@cfpb.gov 
lane.powell@cfpb.gov 
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Leslie Rutledge 

Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Arkansas Attorney General's Office 
323 Center Street, Suite 200 
Little Rock, AR 72201 
Telephone: (501) 682-8114 
Facsimile: (501) 682-8118 
kate.donoven@arkansasag.gov 
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in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. 
United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. 
United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. 
Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment 
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes 
precedence, and box I or 2 should be marked. 
Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the 
citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; '."OTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity 
cases.) 

III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this 
section for each principal party. 

IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code 
that is most applicable. Click here for: ~ature of Suit Code Descriptions. 

V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes. 
Original Proceedings. (I) Cases which originate in the United States district courts. 
Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. 
Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing 
date. 
Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. 
Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or 
multidistrict litigation transfers. 
Multidistrict Litigation - Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. 
Section 1407. 
Multidistrict Litigation - Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. PLEASE 
NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in 
statue. 

VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional 
statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service 

VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. 
Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. 
Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket 
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. 

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 
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Cara Petersen, Acting Enforcement Director 
Jeffrey Paul Ehrlich, Acting Principal Deputy Enforcement Director 
Michael Salemi, Acting Deputy Enforcement Director 
Kara K. Miller, Assistant Litigation Deputy 

Attorneys to be noticed: 

Benjamin Konop, Ohio Bar No. 0073458 
Lane Powell, Mich. Bar No. P79432 
Bureau of Consumer Financial Protection 
1700 G Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20552 
Telephone: (202) 435-7265 
Email: benjamin.konop@cfpb.gov 
Email: lane.powell@cfpb.gov 

Leslie Rutledge, Arkansas Attorney General's Office 

Attorney to be noticed: 

Kate Donoven, Ark. Bar No. 98189 
Senior Assistant Attorney General 
Arkansas Attorney General's Office 
323 Center Street, Suite 200 
Little Rock, AR 72201 
Telephone: (501) 682-8114 
Email: Kate.Donoven@ArkansasAG.gov 
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